

Libertarian Party of Florida, Inc.

Constitution

As Revised at Convention 2018-02-25

ARTICLE I Name & Object

Section 1. The name of this organization shall be the Libertarian Party of Florida, Inc., hereinafter referred to as the LPF.

Section 2. The object and purpose of the LPF is to engage in political action in the State of Florida, to serve as an affiliate organization of the Libertarian Party in national politics, and to serve as a nucleus for designated county affiliate organizations and for LPF members in matters of statewide political action.¹

Section 3. The purpose of the LPF is to implement and to give voice to the principles embodied in the Statement of Principles currently adopted by the LPF by:

- A. Supporting candidates for national office, recruiting and supporting candidates for state and Congressional offices, and aiding local affiliates upon request.²
- B. Promoting, chartering, and coordinating county affiliate parties within the State of Florida.
- C. Entering into political information activities, including the promoting and securing of party members.

ARTICLE II Membership

Section 1. LPF membership is open to any LPF voter who signs the pledge: "I hereby certify that I do not believe in or advocate the initiation of force as a means of achieving political or social goals," and asks to be a member of the LPF.
3 4 5

¹ And LPF members added April 9, 2016 at convention

² Amended at Annual Meeting 2009

³ And asks to be a member of the LPF; added May 25, 2013 at convention

⁴ Section 2. Matters pertaining to membership classification shall be prescribed in the Standing Rules. deleted May 25, 2013 at Convention

Section 2. No change in the Bylaws or Standing Rules may have the effect of imposing a head tax on the membership.^{6 7}

Section 3. No change in the Bylaws or Standing Rules may have the effect of disenfranchising a member.⁸

Section 4. No change in the Bylaws or Standing Rules shall deny the autonomy of an individual member or an affiliate party, except as provided in the Constitution.⁹

Section 5. Certain rights and privileges of membership, including delegate status, committee appointments and observation of committee meetings, holding LPF state or affiliate party office, exercise of voting rights in the conduct of any Libertarian Party of Florida business, and the right to bring business before the Annual Business Meeting, shall be available only to LPF members who are registered LPF voters in the state of Florida and shall not be available to members and officers of any other political party. Persons ineligible for such rights and privileges may participate in discussion on items of business brought before the membership, subject to the discretion of the Chair or by a two-thirds (2/3s) majority vote of the body.

^{10 11}

ARTICLE III Officers and Executive Committee¹²

Section 1. The Officers of the LPF shall be a Chairperson, a Vice Chairperson, a Secretary, and a Treasurer. The duties and election of the Officers shall be specified in the By-Laws.

Section 2. The Executive Committee shall be composed of the Officers, three (3) Directors-at-Large, one (1) Regional Representative for each region elected at the Annual Business Meeting within the provision of the By-Laws.¹³ The powers and duties of the Executive Committee shall be prescribed in the Bylaws and Standing Rules, to provide the control and management of all the affairs, properties, and funds of the LPF consistent with this Constitution. Deficit spending shall be prohibited.¹⁴

⁵ Amended at Annual Business Meeting February 24, 2018.

⁶ Moved to Article 4 from the Standing Rules at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-2-91; moved to this section at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-6-93

⁷ Moved Article II, Section 2 to new Article IV and renumbered at convention April 9, 2016

⁸ Moved to Article 4 from the Standing Rules at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-2-91; moved to this section at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-6-93

⁹ Moved to Article 4 from the Standing Rules at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-2-91; moved to this section at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-6-93

¹⁰ 2006 Annual Meeting

¹¹ Amended at Annual Business Meeting February 24, 2018.

¹² Amended at Annual Business Meeting February 24, 2018 by moving language from Art III Sections 3 through 9 Constitution to Bylaws Article III and moving contents of Article III Bylaws into Article III beginning Sect 3 of the Constitution.

¹³ Amended at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-6-1993

¹⁴ Last sentence added at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-4-94

Section 3. The Officers and Directors-at-large. of the Executive Committee shall be elected at the Annual Business Meeting by the delegate assembly majority vote for a period of two (2) years.

Section 4 Executive Committee

Election of Executive Committee Officers. The Chair, Vice-Chair and odd numbered Directors-at-large shall be elected in odd numbered years. The Secretary, Treasurer, and even numbered Directors-at-large shall be elected in even numbered years and in 2001. Regional Representatives shall be elected at the Annual Business Meeting and shall serve for a period of one (1) year. These Executive Committee members shall take office upon the close of the Annual Business Meeting and serve thereafter until the final adjournment of the Annual Business Meeting at which their terms expire.

A. No offices shall be combined and all offices shall be filled.¹⁵

B. The officers shall be ranked, in order, as follows: the Chairperson, the Vice Chairperson, the Secretary, and the Treasurer. The highest ranked remaining officer shall preside over the LPF and its meetings. If all offices are vacant, each Director at large in order of their seat number shall preside. If all offices and Directors at large are vacant, the Regional Representatives shall elect a chairperson pro-tempore from their ranks to fill offices as described below.

C. Every LPF Executive Committee office and seat shall be deemed vacant following the rules provided in Florida law for political party office vacancies. In addition to those rules, unexcused absence from three monthly Executive Committee meetings or six bi-weekly Executive Committee meetings shall be considered a vacancy.

D. The presiding officer shall appoint a qualified and willing LPF member to fill any vacant office or seat. The appointee shall be vested immediately with the duties and powers of the office. The LPF shall notify the Florida Department of Elections of any change in the filing certificate, including a change of officers, within five (5) days to satisfy

¹⁵ Amended at Annual Business Meeting February 24, 2018

the requirements of Florida Law.

E. If the Annual Business Meeting will occur within 60 days, the vested appointee will retain the office until that meeting. If the Annual Business Meeting will not occur within 60 days, the Executive Committee shall, at its next regularly scheduled meeting, elect a qualified LPF member to the office. The election shall be by voice vote in order of nomination. The vested appointee shall be the first nominee voted upon.

F. Any member elected or appointed to serve on the Executive Committee or other LPF committee shall be a member of the LPF, and shall, upon request, show proof of registration with the State of Florida to vote in the LPF.¹⁶

Section 5. Duties

A. The Chair shall be the head of the LPF, presiding over all meetings of the party, convention, and Executive Committee. The Chairperson is the official spokesperson for the LPF, subject to the dictates of the constituted authorities of the Executive Committee and Convention.

B. The Vice-Chair shall serve as presiding officer in the absence of the Chair; shall be responsible for the committee work of the LPF; shall represent the committees at executive sessions; and shall serve as ex officio member of all committees.

C. The Secretary shall serve as recorder for all meetings of the party, conventions, and Executive Committee. The Secretary shall be the custodian of the minutes of all meetings, correspondence, committee reports, and the Constitution, Bylaws and Standing Rules, and shall make provision for legal service to the LPF. The Secretary of the LPF shall also serve as a member of the Membership Committee, and shall be responsible for maintaining party membership records.¹⁷

D. The Treasurer shall be custodian of all funds, receiving and disposing of the funds at the discretion of the Executive Committee and subject to the Standing Rules. The Treasurer shall keep the deputy treasurer appraised in all aspects of the position to act in his or her

¹⁶ Amended at Annual Business Meeting February 24, 2018 by adding language to 2A, striking all of B, C, D, and E, and adding new B, C, D, and E, striking portions of F and replacing with new language, and striking all of G.

¹⁷ Article III, Section 3 C. Removed "The Libertarian Party of Florida" and inserted "the LPF", removed "the Secretary" and inserted "a member", and removed "shall" at the Annual Business Meeting May 6, 2017.

absence or incapacity and may delegate responsibilities thereto. In so much as there is personal liability to the governing bodies, any time the deputy Treasurer acts on behalf of the Treasurer they shall be considered 'acting treasurer' and subject to the bookkeeping standards of the organization and state and federal Bureaus that govern the party¹⁸

E. The regional representatives shall be responsible for forming lawful county affiliates in their defined region and their county of residence, communicating and coordinating between the affiliates in their defined region and the LPF, and reporting monthly to the LPF Executive Committee.

All regional representatives shall include in their written monthly reports to the LPF Executive committee an update on the individual affiliation status of each unaffiliated county in their region, including a status report of all efforts, per County, made in the prior month (e.g. phone calls made, emails sent, visits to the county) to achieve affiliation.¹⁹

F. (a) The Executive Committee shall be responsible for creating a committee to maintain a current contact list of experts in fields related to election issues or interest in Libertarian candidates for use as data and advisory sources.

(b) The Executive Committee shall establish a legislative review committee for the purpose of identifying Florida laws for change or repeal, and for making specific wording recommendations for use by Libertarian candidates and officers.²⁰

(c) LPF established committees may use an online platform as a forum for its meetings, providing notice of the meeting's-website address on the LPF website and manner in which non-committee LPF members may enter credentials to view, but not participate, in committee discussions and business.²¹

Section 6. Meetings of the Executive Committee

A. The powers and duties of the Executive Committee are prescribed

¹⁸ Amended Annual Meeting 2011

¹⁹ entire section added at the annual meeting 2014

²⁰ Entire subsection E added 3-29-08, Orlando

²¹ Article III, Sect. 3 F(c) Removed "Facebook" and inserted "an online platform", removed "domain" and inserted "meeting's website", and inserted "on the LPF website" and added a period at the end of the sentence at the Annual Business Meeting May 6, 2017.

by the Constitution, Bylaws and Standing Rules, and by the direction of the party at the Annual Business Meeting.

B. The Executive Committee shall meet as prescribed in the Standing Rules.

C. A quorum of the Executive Committee, shall be a majority of its seated members.²²

D. Notice of all Executive Committee Meetings including location and call-in or webinar information will be sent to all County Chairs at least 14 days in advance to allow general membership attendance.

E. The EC shall make readily available, through the county chairs, all records of the EC including constitution, bylaws, standing rules, meeting minutes, agendas and financial reports. Making the EC Yahoo group (or its successor) available in a read only fashion to county chairs shall be deemed to satisfy this requirement.

F. The EC shall make readily available, through the county chairs, all motions being considered by extra-meeting vote as in Standing Rules Article V, Section 2

G. SPECIAL MEETINGS - Special meetings of the Executive Committee may be called by the Chair or 2/3 of the EC at any time, provided the purpose of the meeting, time, date and contact information is given at least 24 hours in advance. Only items listed in the notice for a special meeting shall be acted upon at the special meeting.²³

H. The Executive Committee shall use roll call voting on all substantive motions. On all roll call votes, the vote of each individual Committee member shall be recorded in the minutes.²⁴

ARTICLE IV Affiliates²⁵

Section 1. Affiliate organizations which choose to become affiliated parties of the LPF shall apply for official designation on a standard petition form for County Affiliates, as adopted by the Executive Committee and subject to the Bylaws and Standing Rules.

ARTICLE V Conventions & Meetings

²² Article III, Sect. 4 C Removed "eight (8) members of the Committee" and inserted "a majority of its seated members" at the Annual Business Meeting May 6, 2017.

²³ Art. III, Section 4, subsection G added at Annual Meeting April 9, 2016

²⁴ Article III, Sect. 4 H added at Annual Business Meeting May 7, 2017.

²⁵ Moved Article II, Section 2 to new Article IV, Section 1 and renumbered at convention April 9, 2016

Section 1. The LPF shall hold an annual convention in accordance with the provisions of the Bylaws and Standing Rules.

Section 2. The conduct of the business and meetings of the Executive Committee shall be prescribed in the Bylaws and Standing Rules.

ARTICLE VI Statement of Principles, Platform & Nominations

The Statement of Principles of the Libertarian Party is hereby ratified. The LPF may develop a Statement of Principles consistent with the Libertarian Party's as a preamble to the Platform developed by the Convention, and as prescribed by this Constitution, By-Laws, and Standing Rules.

ARTICLE VII Parliamentary Authority

The rules contained in the current edition of Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised shall govern the LPF in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with other rules adopted by the LPF.²⁶

ARTICLE VIII Adoption & Amendments

Section 1. This Constitution shall be adopted when approved by two-thirds of the delegates of the 1974 Convention.

Section 2. Amendments to the Constitution may be made in the following manner:

A. Amendments must be published among on the LPF's official, public, and functioning website for notification of all members in good standing, thirty (30) days prior to the Annual Business Meeting and passed by two-thirds of the members present at that meeting.²⁷

B. Upon establishment of affiliates in each county in Florida, a proposed Amendment can be accepted by a three-fourths vote of the Executive Committee and ratified by three-fourths of the county affiliates.²⁸

C. If any term of this Constitution or any subordinate document is to any extent illegal, invalid, or incapable of being enforced, such term shall be excluded to the extent of such illegality, invalidity, or unenforceability; all other terms hereof shall remain in full force and effect; and, to the extent permitted and possible the illegal, invalid, or unenforceable term shall be deemed replaced by a term stated or implied by the adopted parliamentary authority that is legal, valid, and

²⁶ Article VII inserted and renumbered at Annual Business Meeting 2017-05-06

²⁷ Article VII Section 2 A. struck "the Executive Committee, the County Affiliates and" and inserted " on the LPF's official, public, and functioning website for notification of" at Annual Business Meeting 2017-05-06

²⁸ Sections A and B passed at the Annual Business Meeting, 6-6-93

enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable term.

D. The LPF ByLaws shall be subordinate to this Constitution. The LPF Standing Rules shall be subordinate to the LPF ByLaws. Any other rule or procedure shall be subordinate to the LPF Standing rules. In any conflict between these documents, the conflicting term from the subordinate document shall be deemed unenforceable.

E. Immaterial changes may be made under the provisions of Article III, Section 4, B. of this Constitution.²⁹

Article IX Selection and Endorsement of Candidates ³⁰

Section 1 Candidates shall be considered official LPF Candidates if they are registered to vote as members of the LPF and register as candidates with the Florida Division of Elections and meet all requirements of local, state, or federal office to which they seek election.

Section 2 In accordance with Florida Law, a letter shall be sent to the Florida Division of Elections on or before the date of qualifying for the election listing all the candidates who have met the qualifications set forth by Florida law, which appearance on the Florida Division of Elections website shall be considered proof of meeting these qualifications.

²⁹ Article VIII Section 2 C, D., and E. added Annual Business Meeting 2017-05-06

³⁰ New Article IX added at Annual Business Meeting February 25, 2018